
Health and Wellbeing Board
Date: Wednesday, 15 November 2017
Time: 4.00 pm

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall

Contact Officer: Pat Phillips
Tel: 0151 691 8488
e-mail: patphillips@wirral.gov.uk
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk

AGENDA
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Board are asked whether they have any personal or 
prejudicial interests in connection with any application on the agenda 
and, if so, to declare them and state the nature of the interest.

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

3. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 6)

To approve the accuracy of the minutes of the meeting held on 19 
July, 2017.

4. STRATEGY 

4.1 Wirral Safeguarding Children’s Board Annual Report.

Presentation.

4.2 Public Health Annual Report 2017: Expect better

Presentation and report.

5. HEALTHY WIRRAL 

5.1 Update on progress.

Public Document Pack



Verbal report - Graham Hodkinson (Director for Health & 
Care).

5.2 A & E Update

5.3 BCF Update

6. PARTNER UPDATE 

6.1 NHSE Quarterly Update

Verbal report – Nicola Allen (NHS England).

6.2 Healthwatch

Verbal report – Phil Davies, Chair, Healthwatch.

7. FOR INFORMATION 

Wirral Plan Performance Report Quarter 1

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-council/council-performance

8. DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

The date of the next formal Board meeting is Wednesday 14 March, 
2018 at 4:00 pm in Committee Room 1 Town Hall, Wallasey.

https://www.wirral.gov.uk/about-council/council-performance


HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
Wednesday, 19 July 2017

Present:

Councillor Chris Jones (Chair)

Councillors P Gilchrist
I Lewis

Ms S Edwards Cheshire and Wirral NHS Partnership Trust, (dep for Sheena 
Cumiskey),

Ms D Gornik Interim Director for Children & Families
Mr G Hodkinson Director for Health & Care
Ms V McGee Wirral Community NHS Trust dep for Karen Howell
Ms E Quesada Strategic Commissioning Manager Children’s Services
Ms R Musgrave Consultant in Public Health
Mr B Simpson Chair, Strategic Housing Partnership
Mr A Thomas Head of Assurance & Delivery, NHS England (dep for Nicola 

Allen)
Dr S Wells Chair, CCG.

1 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were asked if they had any pecuniary or non-pecuniary interests in 
connection with any application on the agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest.

Councillor Phil Gilchrist declared a non-pecuniary interest by virtue of being the 
Appointed Governor: Cheshire and Wirral NHS Partnership Trust

Councillor Chris Jones declared a personal interest by virtue of her employment with 
the Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust.

Dr Sue Wells declared a non-pecuniary interest by virtue of being a partner in a 
medical practice and Medical Officer at West Kirby Residential School                                        

2 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies were received from Councillor Phil Davies, Fiona Johnstone, Acting 
Director of Strategy & Partnerships, Simon Banks, Chief Officer, Wirral CCG, Ms 
Sheena Cumiskey, Cheshire and Wirral NHS Partnership Trust, Annette Roberts, 
Community Action Wirral, Phil Davies, Healthwatch Wirral, Chief Superintendent Ian 
Hassall, Merseyside Police, Gary Oakford, Mersey Fire and Rescue, Karen Howell, 
CEO Wirral University Teaching Hospital, NHS Foundation Trust, Janelle Holmes, 
(deputy for David Allison) Executive Chief Operating Officer, WUTH and Julie 
Webster, Acting Director of Health and Wellbeing.

3 MINUTES 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Resolved – That the accuracy of the Minutes of the Health and Wellbeing 
Formal Board held on 15 March, 2017 be approved as a correct record.

4 SEND 

Members of the Board received a presentation from Elaina Quesada, Strategic 
Commissioning Manager, Childrens, Young People and Families around SEND – 
Happy, safe, achieving : only the best for our children.  The presentation introduced 
key headlines to explain the joined up working and commissioning across Education, 
Health and Social Care and highlighted that this was subject to inspections from the 
CQC and Ofsted. The report outlined the links to the key strategies – Children and 
Young People Strategy, All Age Disability Strategy and Schools Strategy. Details 
were provided about the Healthy Wirral better Health Programme: Improving 
Outcomes for Children & Young People – supporting C&YP with special educational 
needs/disabilities. The presentation also provided details of the proposal to link to the 
all Age Disability group and the two groups set up to steer SEND agenda  The report 
concluded with the Next Steps/5 Key Priorities that were identified as : -

 Ensure strategic SEND Board is established with key decision makers to 
steer development and improvement

 All partners and stakeholders have signed up to a common vision and 
strategy for SEND 

 Establish joint commissioning arrangements around SEND across adults and 
children’s and across Education, Health and Social Care

 Creating a system that prepares children and young people for adulthood and 
independence

 Information available to children, young people, parents and professionals 
accessible and effectively communicated via the Local Offer

Elaina Quesada concluded the presentation by responding to Members questions 
and informed members that an update and key evaluation would be brought to a later 
meeting of the Board.

5 NHSE QUARTERLY UPDATE REPORT 

Andy Thomas (Head of Assurance and Delivery) attended the meeting on behalf of 
NHS England and provided the Health and Wellbeing Board with an update 
regarding the activities and responsibilities of NHS England. The report outlined the 
national and regional position together with specific updates on priorities that the 
Local NHS England Teams were responsible for progressing.

In the area of Strategy and Planning for Mental Health - Test sites for new models of 
care - it was reported that NHS England had announced a new tranche of sites to 
test new approaches to delivering mental health services with the intention of 
reducing the number of people who need to travel long distances for care. Eleven 
new sites would be tasked with reducing the number of people who received in-
patient hospital treatment and for those who did need more intensive care, that this 
was available closer to home. The pilot sites, made up of NHS mental health trusts, 
independent sector and charitable organisations would work together, sharing a local 
budget, to effectively reorganise services in their area to provide the best care for 
patients.

Page 2



The report also referred to the area of Mental Health – Digital Innovation - NHS 
England had announced new funding for seven mental health trusts to enable these 
organisations to pioneer world-class, digital services to improve care for patients 
experiencing mental health issues. This would include, for the first time, all key 
professionals involved in a patient’s care having access to real-time records, from 
triage and initial assessment, through to admissions or referrals, as well as transfer 
between services and follow up care.
The trusts would also develop remote, mobile and assistive technologies to empower 
patients to manage their conditions and enable family and carers to provide the best 
possible support. This was all part of the NHS’ plan to harness technology to improve 
services and become more efficient.

With reference to Primary care: General Practice Infrastructure it was reported that 
NHS England was currently reviewing bids for investment through the multi-million 
pound Estates and Technology Transformation Fund (ETTF) to accelerate the 
development of infrastructure to enable the improvement and expansion of joined-up 
out of hospital care for patients. Wirral had submitted a substantial proposal and it 
was anticipated that a decision would be communicated by the end of July.

The Board were informed that NHS England was currently consulting on proposals 
for Congenital Heart Disease Services. The consultation had opened on 9th February 
2017 & closed on 17th July 2017.

Within the area of Delivery and Assurance - CCG Improvement and Assessment 
Framework it was reported that for the year-end 2016/17 ratings for CCGs 
(measured against the CCG Improvement and Assessment Framework) were 
expected to be published before the end of July. Publication of results would be on 
MyNHS and NHS England website

The report included the area of Operational Delivery & Resilience and it was noted 
that moving into Quarter 2 of 2017/18 NHS England was emphasising focussed 
attention on delivery of 4 clinical priorities within 2017.

This included the area of Urgent Care – recovery of the maximum wait in A&E for 
95% of patients. Having recognised that this standard was a challenge for the Wirral 
health economy, NHS England was supporting improvement through close working 
with the A&E delivery Board, specifically directing resources to assist identifying and 
resolving in-hospital delays. It was noted that the policy framework for the Better 
Care Fund had been published and this was an item on the agenda for this meeting. 

Mental health – meeting the mental health investment standard, delivery of existing 
standards relating to Psychological Therapies (IAPT), Early Intervention Psychosis 
and delivery of new standards relating to eating disorders. Locally NHS England and 
the Intensive Support Team (NHS Improvement) were working with Wirral CCG to 
agree a plan for reducing the high number of patients waiting for IAPT and increasing 
access to a wider patient group.

Cancer – meeting all cancer access standards and specifically delivering the 62-day 
referral to treatment standard where this had been a challenge. It was recognised 
that whilst Cheshire and Merseyside were delivering the cancer standards at a macro 
level, there were unacceptable variances across organisations, these variances were 

Page 3



exacerbated by the fragmentation of the patient’s care pathway across multiple 
organisations.

With reference to Primary care – progressing delivery of the GP Five Year Forward 
View in relation to Pharmacy – Clinical Pharmacists in general practice – it was 
reported that NHS England had recently announced that over 700 more practices in 
England would benefit from having a pharmacist located in their GP surgery covering 
up to six million patients and helping to free up GP time.  In relation to NHS GP 
Health Service it was reported that part of a broader package of support, the General 
Practice Forward View was committed to improve access to mental health support for 
general practitioners and trainee GPs who may be suffering from mental ill-health 
and addiction. A new NHS GP Health service had been developed and had been 
launched on 30th January 2017.

The report also outlined the issues relating to EPRR and noted that NHS England 
had significant responsibilities as a category 1 responder under the Civil 
Contingencies Act 2004. Recent Major Incidents at a national level; had required a 
response from NHS England (Cheshire and Merseyside). A short summary of those 
activities included updates on actions following Grenfell Fire: including Community 
Trusts being asked to check that patients in high rise accommodation had smoke 
alarms.  Brian Simpson, Chair, Strategic Housing Partnership also contributed to the 
meeting to update members of the Board on the current position in high rise and 
sheltered accommodation in Wirral, reported that work was being undertaken with 
Mersey Fire and Rescue and guidance was being awaited from DCLG.  In relation to 
the Manchester Arena Terrorist Attack it was reported that as numerous people from 
Cheshire and Merseyside had been affected some had yet to be repatriated from 
hospitals back to the area.  In relation to the Cyber attack: -it was reported that all 
functions had returned to normal and a formal debrief was planned re Lessons learnt 
/ Action Required.

In response to questions raised about Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships 
(STP) Andy Thomas noted that this was still moving forward and an annual 
comparison dashboard would be published shortly which would show what was 
happening throughout the country and what issues would require working on.  
Councillor Ian Lewis commented that it would be useful to have updates/standing 
item on the agenda for the delivery and implementation of the Five Year Forward 
Plan in relation to STP.  Andy Thomas informed members that updates would be 
brought to future meetings of the Board. Councillor Chris Jones urged that 
consultation be widespread with the Council and members of the public.

Resolved – That;

1. Andy Thomas be thanked for the report
2. the report be noted.

6 BCF - UPDATE 

Graham Hodkinson, Director for Health & Care presented a report of Jacqui Evans, 
Wirral Council and Andrew Cooper, CCG on 17/19 Better Care Fund (BCF) 
Submissions and responded to members questions. The report advised Health & 
Wellbeing Board members with regards to progress & current position of the BCF & 
the requirements for 17/19 submission.  Appendices to the report contained an 

Page 4



update on the position, Wirral BCF Headlines 2016/17 and a breakdown of Better 
Care Fund Schemes 2017-18.  It was reported that the final guidance had been 
received on 7 July 2017.

Resolved – That; 

1. the contents of the report be noted.
2. the ‘virtual sign off’ of the BCF submission, given timescales 

outlined in the report be approved.

7 WIRRAL A&E DELIVERY BOARD REPORT 

Members were informed that regrettably there was no one available from Wirral 
University Teaching Hospital to present the verbal report as expected.  As this had 
been notified Members including Graham Hodkinson, Director for Health & Care had 
contributed to an update during discussion of Minute 5 NHS Quarterly Update report.

8 WIRRAL PHARMACEUTICAL NEEDS ASSESSMENT 

Members gave consideration to a report of Fiona Johnstone, Acting Director of 
Strategy & Partnerships regarding Changes to the National Health Service 
(Pharmaceutical Services, Charges and Prescribing) (Amendment) Regulations 2016 
in relation to Pharmacy consolidations (mergers).  This provided NHS pharmacy 
businesses the opportunity to apply to consolidate the services provided on two or 
more sites onto a single site. This potential request required the H&WBB to respond 
and provided a view as to whether this would, or would not leave a gap in local 
provision. The report set out the approach to provide this response to NHS England 
in a timely manner. Appendices to the report provided Pharmaceutical Regulation 
Changes Dec 2016 and the proposed approach in Supplementary Statement and 
Proposed Consolidations.  Rachel Musgrave, Consultant in Public Health, attended 
the meeting and outlined the report to the Board.

The report requested that members note the changes to Pharmacy consolidations 
(mergers) in National Health Service (Pharmaceutical Services, Charges and 
Prescribing) (Amendment) Regulations 2016 and endorse the proposal as it set out 
an approach to managing the H&WBB responses to any potential Wirral provider 
consolidation requests submitted to NHS England.  It proposed that a group of up six 
H&WBB members would be identified that would be contacted if, or when, NHSE 
provide details of a proposed pharmacy contract change.  The proposed six H&WBB 
members were the Chair of H&WBB; Wirral CCG Accountable Officer, 
Representative from HealthWatch; Director for Children’s Services, Director for 
Health & Care, and Director for Health & Wellbeing (DPH)  This nominated group 
would be asked to review the initial evidence related to the request, provided by the 
Director for Public Health, for their added local insight and considered view as to how 
the H&WBB should respond to the submitted pharmacy contract change request 
received by NHSE.  This considered view would in turn be collated and circulated 
electronically for ratification by all board members in the required timeframe before a 
final local HWBB response was sent to NHSE.  The results of any NHSE 
deliberations would then be reviewed by H&WBB for any further action and recorded 

Page 5



on the PNA in the relevant timeframe.  Rachel Musgrave reminded the Board that 
anyone connected with Pharmacy could not participate in this.

Resolved – That;

1. the changes to Pharmacy consolidations (mergers) in National Health 
Service (Pharmaceutical Services, Charges and Prescribing) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2016 be noted.

2. the proposal, as set out in the report as an approach to managing the 
H&WBB responses to any potential Wirral provider consolidation 
requests submitted to NHS England, be endorsed.

3. that the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board, Councillor Phil Davies 
be advised of the Boards decision.

9 MOTORWAY BRIDGE INCIDENT 

As an AOB to the meeting Suzanne Edwards, Service Director Cheshire & Wirral 
Partnership NHS Foundation Trust (Deputy for Sheena Cumiskey) addressed the 
Board and referred to the tragic incident that had taken place on the motorway 
bridge, the Coroner’s regulation 28 to look at street furniture on motorway bridges 
and the work around suicide prevention on ‘hot spot’ areas. It was requested that the 
Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board write to the Highways Agency.  Suzanne 
Edwards said she would provide further information to enable this to the Chair of the 
Board to enable this.

Resolved – That the Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board be requested to 
write to the Highways Agency and that the necessary information be provided 
by Suzanne Edwards, Director Cheshire & Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation 
Trust.

10 DATE OF NEXT MEETING 

The date of the next formal Board meeting is 15 November, 2017 at 4.00pm in 
Committee Room 1, Town Hall, Wallasey.

Page 6



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
  

  

Wirral Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report On-a-Page 2016-17 

How do we measure the Journey of Children and     

Young People? 

What has the WSCB Achieved in the Past Year? 

Over the past year the WSCB has undertaken the following work to improve 

safeguarding across the partnership: 

 Completed design of the Supporting Families Enhancing Futures model 

 Established an Improving Outcomes group to evidence impact of activity 

 Delivered Right Service Right Time conferences which included launch of 

the revised thresholds of need and publication of tools for professionals 

 Developed the ‘top 20’ multi-agency safeguarding performance indicators 

 Met with young people from the Children in Care Council to find out how 

safe they feel 

 Delivered training to over 1,100 professionals 

 Appointed a new Chair and revised the WSCB’s terms of reference 

 Revised strategies and tools to combat exploitation and neglect. 

Supporting Families Enhancing Futures 

What does our Improvement Journey look like? 

How does the WSCB support Learning and            

Improvement? 

What are the Partnership Challenges? 
What are the WSCB’s Priority Areas? 

How is the WSCB Organised, Governed and Led? 

The Wirral Safeguarding Children Board (WSCB) receives reports from agencies    

detailing the work they are undertaking to keep children and young people safe.      

The WSCB is particularly interested in how our most vulnerable young people 

are safeguarded and in the past year has received reports about: 

 The number of children who are young carers 

The reports to the WSCB reveal that identified young carers are well supported 

by agencies but agencies are not aware of all the young carers in Wirral 

 The number of private fostering arrangements 

Wirral has a lower number of notifications than we would expect 

 How effectively agencies intervene at the earliest opportunity 

Early Help response is robust and continues to be developed 

 The effectiveness of arrangements to protect children from harm, including 

those who are sexually exploited and suffer abuse and neglect 

Multi-agency arrangements are improving as part of the post Ofsted Improvement 

Plan. Children in need of protection receive a swift and effective service 

 Multi-agency arrangements to safeguard children who are looked after 

Arrangements to keep children safe are strong. Wirral is better at keeping in 

touch with care leavers and is developing stronger processes so we know about 

all children who are placed in Wirral. 

The WSCB has developed a new single model for working 

with families called Supporting Families Enhancing Futures 

(SFEF). The model will be used for families in Team Around 

the Family, Child in Need and Child Protection processes. 

The model has a focus on looking closely at the child and 

family’s daily lived   experience and creating effective 

outcome focused and realistic plans. The model was 

introduced in October 2017. 

Safeguarding challenges for the partnership over the next 12 months are: 

 Implementing the Children and  Social Work Act which will replace 

local safeguarding children boards with other local arrangements led 

by the local authority, police and clinical commissioning group 

 Launching and embedding the SFEF model 

 Embedding the Right Service Right Time strategy 

 Continuing to progress the improvement journey 

 Ensuring the delivery of and attendance at training 

 Safeguarding in austerity and budget and resourcing challenges 

Since the review of the effectiveness of the WSCB by Ofsted in 2016 found 

the safeguarding board to be inadequate an improvement plan has been 

developed to address the 7 recommendations from the report.    

Improvement work completed by the WSCB includes: 

 Appointment of Maggie Atkinson as Independent Chair 

 Revised structure and operating framework in place 

 Revised ‘top 20’ safeguarding performance dataset  

scrutinised by the  WSCB 

 Challenges to partner agencies tracked and recorded 

 All serious incidents referred to the WSCB 

 Improvement plan progress is swift and sure 

The Right Service Right Time strategy is designed to improve 

the understanding of thresholds of need to ensure that once 

a child’s needs are identified the partnership response is 

swift, effective and leads to positive outcomes.  

The WSCB has set five priority areas for the two years from 2016-18.   

The five priorities will be reviewed and refreshed in 2017: 

1) Children in need of help and protection are identified at the 

earliest opportunity 

2) Children are protection from exploitation by a skilled 

workforce and wider community 

3) Children who are Looked After are supported  

4) The WSCB ensures agencies meet the needs of children 

5) The WSCB works effectively to safeguard and promote the 

welfare of children and young people 

`Right Service 

     Right Time` 

 transition plans need to evidence effective multi-agency planning 

 importance of partnership understanding and application of thresholds 

 importance of the multi-agency escalation procedures 

 to ensure all relevant agencies are invited to multi-agency meetings  

 to ensure that key professionals access appropriate training. 

As well as statutory Serious Case Reviews 

the WSCB undertakes other reviews where 

lessons may be learned. These are shared 

with the partnership through trainings, 

resources and briefings and impact is tested 

through audits. Key lessons from reviews: 
 

 

The WSCB is an independent statutory multi-agency body led by an Independent 

Chair supported by a small team. Much of the work of the WSCB is carried out 

through its multi-agency committees including: 

  - Performance and Improving Outcomes Committees (audits, data and impact) 

  - Case Review Committee (Serious Case and Multi-agency Reviews) 

  - Learning and Development (Training) 

  - Exploitation and Domestic Abuse (strategic groups)  

  - Child Death Overview Panel (pan Merseyside statutory group). 

  

 

What has the WSCB Achieved in the Past Year? 

Safeguarding boards are made up of over 25 representatives from a 

range of organisations who deliver services to children. They are       

responsible for ensuring agencies (including schools, the local authority, 

police and health organisations) effectively work together to keep     

children and young people safe. The Wirral Safeguarding Children 

Board does this in a number of ways including: 
 

  Co-ordinating multi-agency safeguarding activity and 

holding agencies to account for how they keep 

children safe 

  Publishing safeguarding policies, procedures, 

guidance and resources 

  Delivering safeguarding training for professionals 

  Reviewing cases where children have died or 

suffered abuse and neglect. 

w
e
b

site
: h

ttp
s://w

w
w

.w
irralsafe

gu
ard

in
g.co

.u
k
/   fa

c
e
b

o
o

k
: h

ttp
s://w

w
w

.face
b
o
o
k
.co

m
/W

irralSafe
gu

ard
in

gC
h
ild

re
n
B

o
ard

/   T
w

itte
r: @

w
irrallscb

    ©
W

S
C

B
 2

0
1

7
D

R
 If Wirral Had 100 Children…….49 would be girls and 51 would be boys; 22 would live at or below the poverty line; 7 would be from ethnic minorities; 3 would have a social worker; 75 would achieve well at age 5; fewer than 1 would have a Child Protection Plan; 9 wouldn’t be in education or training 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 4a

https://www.wirralsafeguarding.co.uk/professionals/supporting-families-enhancing-futures/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Expect Better
Annual Report of the 
Director of Public Health 2017

Page 9

Agenda Item 4b



Life expectancy at birth has improved both nationally 
and in Wirral over several decades. Despite this, gaps 
persist between the north and south of England and 
between men and women.

This report highlights the inequalities in life expectancy 
we see across Wirral and shows that this can be partially 
explained by differences in avoidable mortality - deaths 
which might be prevented through public health 
interventions or better healthcare provision. Rates of 
deaths due to conditions considered avoidable vary 
by as much as 5 times in men and 3 times in women 
across the borough.

People living in our more deprived areas tend to live 
shorter lives with a greater proportion of their lives 
spent in poor health. The early onset of illnesses or 
disability can place a greater burden on the health and 
social care system than when people live longer in good 
health. Around a quarter of deaths in Wirral are from 
conditions considered avoidable, i.e diseases related to 
smoking, poor diet, high blood pressure and alcohol. 
Taking action at any age is important.

There is marked variation in the uptake of 
immunisations, NHS Health Checks and cancer 
screening tests across the borough and these 
inequalities need to be addressed. Improving rates of 
uptake could have significant health benefits to Wirral’s 
residents. It would save lives.

How people perceive their symptoms and the likelihood 
of developing serious diseases can have a big impact 
on how they react to them. If people see illnesses as 
unavoidable or untreatable, they may be less likely to 
attend screening appointments, consult for symptoms 
or take up offers of treatment.

There are many reasons why people might have lower 
expectations for their health. We can all expect better. 
Wirral Council is committed to taking action to support 
people to live longer, healthier lives.1 

The Wirral Plan 2020 pledges to:

< Reduce the number of people who smoke in Wirral
< Reduce the impact of alcohol misuse on individuals  
 and communities
< Increase the number of people with a healthy   
 weight in the borough
< Support people to take more control of their health  
 and wellbeing

We ask that Wirral residents take control of their own 
health and wellbeing by:

< Following health advice
< Making use of the many opportunities to improve  
 their wellbeing that Wirral offers
< Seeking appropriate treatment for their symptoms
< Attending offers for vaccinations and screening tests
< Most of all, expecting better for their own health and  
 that of their families.

Wirral’s health and social care organisations must 
design and put in place services that recognise the 
inequalities in the borough. One size does not fit all.2 
It is our responsibility to 
ensure that everyone in 
Wirral has the chance to 
live a healthier life.

Fiona Johnstone,
Director of Public Health, 
Wirral Council

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

2

Foreword

1 https://www.wirral.gov.uk/sites/default/files/all/About%20the%20council/Wirral%20Council%20Plan%20-%20a%202020%20Vision.pdf
2 http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-reviewPage 10



“It is our responsibility to ensure 
that everyone in Wirral has the 
chance to live a healthier life”

3

Page 11



how long do people in wirral liVe?

< Life expectancy has increased over recent decades. 
A baby boy born in Wirral today can expect to 
live to 78 and a baby girl to 82. However, there 
are large differences in life expectancy across the 
borough, with some areas having a life expectancy 
which is 10 years lower than more affluent areas.

< People living in deprived areas have shorter life 
expectancies and tend to spend more years of life 
in poor health. 

what causes wirral residents to 
die early? aVoidable mortality

< Differences in life expectancy may be partly 
explained by differences in avoidable mortality; 
deaths due to a defined list of conditions which 
are preventable (through reduced exposure to 
lifestyle factors or injury) or amenable to healthcare 
interventions.

< The proportion of deaths which are classified as 
avoidable deaths seems to be rising in Wirral. 
Avoidable deaths are around 50% higher in men 
than in women.

< Cancers accounted for 1 in 3 avoidable deaths in 
Wirral and cardiovascular disease accounted for 1 
in 4. Coronary heart disease, lung cancer, chronic 
obstructive pulmonary disease, falls and alcohol-
related liver disease were the most common 
specific causes of avoidable death for the period 
2014-2016. 

< There is marked geographical variation in avoidable 
mortality in Wirral. The rate of avoidable mortality, 
adjusted for population size and age, was 5 times 
higher for men and 3 times higher for women living  
in Birkenhead and Tranmere than in Heswall.

< As shown in the figure below, the rate of avoidable 
deaths in our most deprived areas is 3 times higher 
than our least deprived areas (2012-2016, 5 years 
pooled data).

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

4

Executive Summary

450

400

350

300

250

200

150

100

50

0A
vo

id
ab

le
 d

ea
th

s 
pe

r 
10

0,
00

0 
pe

op
le

1

42
1.
5

2

26
3.
8

Deprivation Quintile
3

19
6.
1

4

16
8.
5

5

14
5.
3

Most deprived Least deprived

“A baby boy born in 
Wirral today can expect 
to live to 78 and a baby 
girl to 82. However, there 
are large differences in 
life expectancy across 
the borough, with some 
areas having a life 
expectancy which is ten 
years lower than more 
affluent areas.”

Page 12



what are the main factors 
contributing to aVoidable deaths 
in wirral?

< Smoking, poor diet, drinking too much and 
sedentary behaviour are amongst the major risk 
factors contributing to avoidable deaths in Wirral. 

< People aged 40-60 experience increasing illness 
as diseases begin to develop as a consequence 
of the cumulative effect of social, economic, 
environmental and lifestyle risk factors. A third 
of 40-60 year olds in Wirral drink more than 
recommended, a third don’t exercise enough and 
two-thirds are overweight or obese. Being in work 
is generally good for people’s health but many 
working adults have chronic health conditions. 

< National data suggests that the provision of 
healthcare varies across England. Some conditions 
are underdiagnosed in Wirral, such as diabetes, 
heart disease, hypertension and chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease. Screening rates for bowel and 
breast cancers and abdominal aortic aneurysms 
are lower than the national average.

< There is a wide variation in uptake of important 
vaccines like the influenza and pneumococcal 
vaccines in high-risk groups. People with chronic 
diseases are at much higher risk of dying from flu. 
The flu vaccination programme can reduce hospital 
admissions for people with chronic diseases.

< Screening rates for cancers vary dramatically across 
Wirral. Breast cancer screening uptake ranges from 
less than 60% to more than 80% and bowel cancer 
screening uptake ranges from less than 40% to 
more than 60%. For both programmes, those GP 
practices in more deprived areas consistently have 
lower screening uptake rates.

< There is marked variation in invitations to and 
uptake of NHS Health Checks between practices in 
Wirral.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

5

how can we reduce aVoidable 
deaths?

< Tackling avoidable deaths and reducing health 
inequalities requires a comprehensive and system-
wide programme of activity. Resources need to be 
targeted at those most in need.

< Partnership working across organisational 
boundaries will allow us to share expertise and make 
the best use of scarce resources.

< We need a continued focus on smoking and 
cardiovascular risk factors, with health and social 
care professionals offering advice and support to 
patients as part of routine care.

< Reducing variation in healthcare provision can yield 
improvements in the health of our population. For 
example, if all GP practices had breast screening 
rates at least at the current Wirral average, we would 
expect to screen an additional 1200 women per 
screening round, saving 7 lives.

< We can expect better for Wirral and tackle 
inequalities in health by ensuring our efforts are 
focused on those with the greatest need. Our 
offers should be universal but with an emphasis on 
supporting those with the greatest need.

 

Page 13



1. life expectancy in wirral       8

2. what causes wirral’s residents to die early?    11

3. what is contributing to preventable deaths?    17

4. the main factors contributing to amenable deaths   18

5. how can we reduce avoidable deaths?     23

6. recommendations        29

6

Contents

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

Page 14



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

7

Page 15



90

88

86

84

82

80

78

76

74

72

70

Li
fe

 e
xp

ec
ta

nc
y 

in
 y

ea
rs

H
es

w
al

l

G
re

as
by

, F
ra

nk
y,

 Ir
by

Pe
ns

by
, T

hi
ng

w
al

l

W
al

la
se

y

W
es

t K
irb

y,
 T

hu
rs

ta
st

on

M
or

et
on

 W
es

t, 
Sa

ug
ha

ll 
M

as
si

e

Ea
st

ha
m

Cl
at

te
rb

rid
ge

Pr
en

to
n

H
oy

la
ke

, M
eo

ls

O
xt

on

N
ew

 B
rig

ht
on

Be
bi

ng
to

n

U
pt

on

Le
as

ow
e,

 M
or

et
on

 E
as

t

Br
om

bo
ro

ug
h

Li
sc

ar
d

Cl
au

gh
to

n

Ro
ck

 F
er

ry

Se
ac

om
be

Bi
rk

en
he

ad
, T

ra
nm

er
e

Bi
ds

to
n 

&
 S

t J
am

es

Male Life Expectancy              Wirral Average

Life expectancy is an important measure of population 
health.3 Monitoring it is crucial as it enables us to follow 
trends in health and health inequalities over time. For 
example, as healthcare and living conditions improved in 
England in the twentieth century, life expectancy showed 
dramatic increases - from 46 years for males and 50 years 
for females in 1900, to 76 years for males and 80 years for 
females in 2000, and has continued to increase since then. 

inequalities in life expectancy

In 2014-16, life expectancy in Wirral was 78.4 years 
for men and 81.9 years for women.4 During the 
period 2013-15, life expectancy for men in England 
was 79.5 and for women was 83.1 years. The longest 
life expectancies were seen in the South East. The 
London Borough of Kensington and Chelsea had a life 
expectancy of 83.4 years for men and Hart in Hampshire 
had a life expectancy for women of 86.7 years.5 

The gap in life expectancy between Wirral and England 
has not decreased significantly over the past few 
decades.

Increases in life expectancy have not been uniform 
across the population. Marked increases have been 
observed in more affluent social groups, while 
progress has been significantly slower for people in 
more deprived social groups, meaning that in recent 
years, inequalities in life expectancy have widened. 

Wirral has wide health inequalities, which are 
illustrated by the differences in life expectancy across 
the borough. Figure 1 and Figure 2 show that life 
expectancy at birth for males is around 11 years 
lower in Bidston and St James than in Heswall, and 
for women it is 10 years lower in Rock Ferry than in 
Greasby, Frankby and Irby.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

8

1. Life expectancy in Wirral

figure 1: male life 
expectancy by wirral 
ward, 2014-2016 (3 
years pooled data).

3  The way life expectancy is estimated is based on people dying within a given period, so even though it is labelled as ‘life expectancy 
at birth’ children born today may actually be expected to live a lot longer. It might be more accurate to label it ‘expected age of death’. Life 
expectancy is a summary measure of the mortality experience of a group of people, rather than a predictive tool for individuals.
4  http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/document_uploads/JSNA%202016/Life_Expectancy_Update_June_2016_V4.pdf
5   http://www.phoutcomes.info/ Page 16



Female Life Expectancy            Wirral Average
90

88

86

84

82

80

78

76

74

72

70

Li
fe

 e
xp

ec
ta

nc
y 

in
 y

ea
rs

G
re

as
by

, F
ra

nk
y,

 Ir
by

H
es

w
al

l

W
al

la
se

y

Ea
st

ha
m

Pe
ns

by
, T

hi
ng

w
al

l

O
xt

on

W
es

t K
irb

y,
 T

hu
rs

ta
st

on

Be
bi

ng
to

n

Cl
at

te
rb

rid
ge

H
oy

la
ke

, M
eo

ls

Pr
en

to
n

Se
ac

om
be

Le
as

ow
e,

 M
or

et
on

 E
as

t

M
or

et
on

 W
es

t, 
Sa

ug
ha

ll 
M

as
si

e

N
ew

 B
rig

ht
on

Li
sc

ar
d

U
pt

on

Br
om

bo
ro

ug
h

Bi
rk

en
he

ad
, T

ra
nm

er
e

Cl
au

gh
to

n

Bi
ds

to
n 

&
 S

t J
am

es

Ro
ck

 F
er

ry

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

9

figure 2: female life 
expectancy by wirral 
ward, 2014-2016 (3 
years pooled data).

The causes of health inequalities are complex and 
involve interactions between social and structural 
factors including educational attainment, employment 
status, income level, gender and ethnicity, as well as 
access to essential services.6

years liVed without disability

Inequalities in life expectancy are not the whole story. 
The total number of years you can expect to live is an 
important measure, but so is the number of years you 
can expect to live before developing significant illness 
or disability. Inequalities in disability-free life expectancy 
are more pronounced than those for life expectancy. 
Nationally, the difference in disability-free life expectancy 
between the poorest areas and the richest is 17 years.7 
This means that not only will people living in deprived 
areas live shorter lives on average, they also tend to 
spend more years of life in poor health.8, 9 

6   http://www.who.int/features/factfiles/health_inequities/en/
7  Disability-Free Life Expectancy (DFLE) estimates lifetime free from a limiting persistent illness or disability. This is based upon a self-rated   
assessment of how health limits an individual’s ability to carry out day-to-day activities.
8  http://www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review
9  https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2016/03/22/health-matters-health-inequalities-and-dementia/Page 17



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

10

The Marmot Review8 reports that those living in our 
most deprived areas become ill earlier and have a 
lower life expectancy than the least deprived areas 
(see Figure 3). Many will experience significant illnesses 
before they reach the statutory pension age, which 
will impact significantly on their working lives. Other 
conditions such as anxiety, depression or chronic back 
pain make significant contributions to the years people 
live in poor health.

Between 2012-2014, the disability-free life expectancy 
for men in Wirral was 59.6 years and 60.5 years for 
women, compared to 63.3 years and 63.2 years for 
men and women in England respectively.10 This means 

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90 100

Neighbourhood Income Deprivation
(Population percentiles)

Most deprived Least deprived

85

80

75

70

65

60

55

50

45

A
ge

Life expectancy
DFLE
Pension age increase 2026-2046

10  http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/document_uploads/JSNA%202016/Life_Expectancy_Update_June_2016_V4.pdf 
11 https://www.york.ac.uk/media/che/documents/papers/researchpapers/CHERP127_medical_spending_hospital_inpatient_England.pdf

that Wirral residents spend a greater proportion of 
their lives in poor health than those in England overall. 
This data is likely to mask further variation within Wirral, 
with people living in our more deprived areas likely to 
experience a greater burden of chronic ill health.

Increasing life expectancy does not necessarily lead 
to an increased burden on the health system, as 
those living the longest lives are living fewer years 
with illness. Increased demand comes from increased 
illness and the number of illnesses residents have. 
Healthcare spending is highest in the final year of 
life but this spending declines as the age of death 
increases.11

figure 3: life expectancy and disability-free life expectancy (dfle) at birth, persons 
by neighbourhood income level, england, 1999-2003.8

Page 18



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

11

In this chapter we examine avoidable deaths in Wirral. 
Definitions of avoidable conditions are produced 
nationally and relate to specific age ranges.12  For 
example, a death from breast cancer is considered 
avoidable if it occurs under the age of 75, whereas 
deaths from falls are avoidable at all ages.

aVoidable deaths

Avoidable mortality can be broken down into:

preventable deaths
Where most or all deaths from a particular cause 
could be avoided by interventions or changes to an 
individual’s environment or behaviour. This could 
mean through action on smoking or alcohol, the 
types of food on sale, improvements to road safety or 
prevention of suicide.

2. What causes Wirral’s residents to die early?

AVOIDABLE
MORTALITY

PREVENTABLE 
MORTALITY

AMENABLE
MORTALITY

12  https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/qmis/avoidablemortalityinenglandandwalesqmi

amenable deaths
Where most or all deaths from a particular cause 
could be avoided through good quality healthcare. 
These deaths might be prevented if services are 
easily accessible and effectively diagnose and treat 
conditions in all groups. 

Page 19



Figure 4 provides examples of conditions, which are 
considered preventable and those considered amenable 
to healthcare interventions. Some conditions, such as 
certain cancers, may appear in both groups as they 
would occur less frequently if certain risk factors were 
eliminated, they can also be diagnosed early through 
screening programmes and treated effectively. 

 
As Figures 5 and 6 show, the largest cause of 
avoidable death in Wirral for the period 2014-16 was 
cancer (neoplasms). Cancer accounted for 1 in 3 of all 
avoidable deaths in Wirral (n=844) in this period. 14, 15

The next largest cause was cardiovascular disease 
(CVD), which accounted for 1 in 4 of all avoidable 
deaths (24% or 596 deaths). Reductions in smoking 
and other risk factors produce a reduction in CVD 
more quickly than cancer. Deaths from CVD are falling 
while deaths from cancer are not reducing as quickly. 

It is worth noting that alcohol will have had a wider 
impact than the 119 deaths from alcohol-related 
liver disease reported, as it will have made a sizeable 
contribution to deaths from other causes such as 
circulatory disease, cancer and digestive disease.

12

13  http://www.blackpooljsna.org.uk/Blackpool-profile/mortality.aspx 
14  https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/bulletins/avoidablemortalityinenglandand
wales/2015#the-north-east-and-north-west-of-england-had-highest-avoidable-mortality-rates-in-2015
15 This uses standardised years of life lost (SYLL) to indicate the potential number of years lost when a person dies prematurely.

Public Health Outcomes Framework:
4.03 - to reduce mortality

NHS Outcomes Framework:
1b - the reduce potential years of life lost

                     Age 0-74: 
                Cancer of lip oral cavity & pharynx 
             Cancer of oesophagus 
          Cancer of stomach and liver 
        Cancer of trachea, bronchus & lung 
       Mesothelioma 
      Mental and behavioural disorders due to alcohol 
      Alchoholic polyneuropathy 
      Pulmonary embolism 
      Alcoholic cardiomyopathy 
       Phlebitis and thrombophlebitis 
         Embolism and thrombosis 
           Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 
               Alcoholic gastritis and liver disease 
                  Chronic hepatitis and cirrhosis of liver 
                      Alcohol-induced chronic pancreatitis

                            All Ages:  
                                  Event awaiting determination of intent 
                                         External causes of morbidity and mortality

                      Age 0-74: 
                         Selected invasive bacterial & protozoal infections 
                            Cancer of bladder / thyroid gland 
                              Hodgkin’s disease 
                                Leukaemia 
                                  Epilepsy and status epilepticus 
                                  Rheumatic and other valvular heart disease 
                                  Hypertensive diseases 
                                  Cerebrovascular diseases 
                                 Pneumonia 
                                Asthma 
                               Gastric and duodenal ulcer 
                               Acute abdomen, appendicitis, intestinal obstruction
                           cholecystitis/lithiasis, pancreatitis, hernia
                         Nephritis and nephrosis  
                        Obstructive uropathy and prostatic hyperplasia   
                     Congenital malformations, deformations and 
                 chromosomal anomalies

           All Ages: 
    Complications of perinatal period

Age 0-49: 
Diabetes mellitus

Age 0-74: 
Tuberculosis 
Hepatitis C 

Colon cancer 
Rectal cancer  

Skin cancer
Breast cancer 

Cervical cancer 
Cardiovascular disease 

Influenza (including swine flu)

All Ages: 
Misadventures to 

patients during surgical 
and medical care 

HIV/AIDS

Mortality from Causes
Considered Preventable

Mortality from Causes
Amenable to Health Care

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

figure 4: comparison of mortality from causes considered preventable and mortality from causes 
amenable to health care.13

Page 20



figure 5: number and proportion of avoidable deaths by cause of death, 2014-2016.

Cancer 
(Neoplasms)

Cardiovascular 
disease

External
causes

e.g falls &
accidents

Respiratory
disease

Digestive
disease

Other100

844

596

418

384
181

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

figure 6: causes of avoidable mortality in wirral 2014-2016 (calendar years) pooled data.

TOTAL AVOIDABLE
DEATHS 2014-16

2523

MENTAL AND
BEHAVIOURAL

GENITOURINARY

RESPIRATORY

SKIN
EXTERNAL
CAUSES

CONGENITAL
MALFORMATIONS

PERINATAL

OTHER 
INFECTIONS

CARDIOVASCULAR

DIGESTIVE

NEOPLASMS

NERVOUS
SYSTEM ENDOCRINE

Sepsis

Haemorrhagic
strokeAortic

aneurysm

Pulmonary
embolism

Ischaemic
stroke

Coronary
heart 

disease

Other/
unspecified

cirrhosis

Liver disease

Alcohol-related
liver disease

Lung cancer
(including

mesothelioma)

Breast cancer

Liver cancer

Bladder cancer

Skin cancer Oropharyngeal
cancers

Colorectal
cancer Oesophageal and

stomach cancer Epilepsy
Diabetes

Chronic
obstructive
pulmonary

disease

Pneumonia

Falls

Accidental
poisoning -
narcotics and
hallucinogens

Exposure to
unspecified
factor

Suicide /
possible
suicide

56

381
596

11

2914

181150
119

31

844

357

101

43

37

25

44 99
111

16

14

30 384

243

127

9

418
170

49

34

68

4

617

15

30

9

9

13

Page 21



Figure 7 shows that 1 in 4 of all deaths in Wirral in 
2016 was classified as potentially avoidable, which 
is similar to the figure for England.16 This varied by 
gender in Wirral, however, with a considerably higher 
percentage of deaths classified as avoidable in males  
(29%) compared to females (19%). 

The percentage of all deaths in Wirral classed as 
avoidable rose by 2% between 2012-2016.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

14

figure 7: percentage of deaths considered avoidable 
in wirral in 2016, by gender (as a % of all deaths).

19% 81%Females

29% 71%Males

24% 76%Persons

Avoidable           Unavoidable

Percentage (%)

Local estimates suggest that 40-60 year olds in Wirral 
are exposed to more risk factors than in England as a 
whole, with a third of our 40-60 year olds drinking over 
14 units of alcohol per week, a third being inactive and 
two-thirds being overweight or obese.

Many long term conditions such as type 2 diabetes 
and hypertension increase in prevalence for this age 
group, contributing to avoidable mortality.

Trends in avoidable deaths

16  https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/bulletins/avoidablemortalityinenglandandwales/2015
17  https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/causesofdeath/bulletins/avoidablemortalityinenglandand
wales/2015#upcoming-changes-to-this-bulletin

The avoidable mortality rate for quintile 1 is almost 3 
times higher than quintile 5. This data illustrates that 
people living in areas of deprivation have 3 times the 
rate of avoidable mortality compared to those living in 
less deprived areas.

The Office for National Statistics (ONS) will report on 
inequalities in avoidable mortality in England and Wales 
using area-level deprivation measures in late 2017.17

450

400

350

300

250

200

150

100

50

0A
vo

id
ab

le
 d

ea
th

s 
pe

r 
10

0,
00

0 
pe

op
le

1

42
1.
5

2

26
3.
8

Deprivation Quintile
3

19
6.
1

4

16
8.
5

5

14
5.
3

Most deprived Least deprived

Analysis of rates of avoidable deaths by where 
people live shows a stark picture. The difference 
between quintile 1 (most deprived) and all of the 
other quintiles is large (and statistically significant) as 
illustrated in Figure 8. 

figure 8: rate of avoidable deaths (rate per 100,000) 
in wirral by deprivation quintile, 2012-2016 
(5 years pooled data).

Page 22



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

15

700

600

500

400

300

200

100

0

A
vo

id
ab

le
 d

ea
th

s 
pe

r 
10

0,
00

0 
pe

op
le

Bi
rk

en
he

ad
, T

ra
nm

er
e

Bi
ds

to
n 

&
 S

t J
am

es

Se
ac

om
be

Ro
ck

 F
er

ry

Br
om

bo
ro

ug
h

Le
as

ow
e,

 M
or

et
on

 E
as

t

U
pt

on

Cl
au

gh
to

n

N
ew

 B
rig

ht
on

Li
sc

ar
d

M
or

et
on

 W
es

t, 
Sa

ug
ha

ll 
M

as
si

e

O
xt

on

Ea
st

ha
m

Be
bi

ng
to

n

Pr
en

to
n

W
es

t K
irb

y,
 T

hu
rs

ta
st

on

H
oy

la
ke

, M
eo

ls

G
re

as
by

, F
ra

nk
y,

 Ir
by

Pe
ns

by
, T

hi
ng

w
al

l

Cl
at

te
rb

rid
ge

W
al

la
se

y

H
es

w
al

l

Male             Female

figure 9: avoidable mortality rate by wirral ward, 2012-2016 (5 years pooled data).

Figure 9 illustrates the geographical differences in the 
rates of avoidable deaths experienced by local people. 
The rate of avoidable deaths (adjusted for population 
size and ages) was 5 times higher for men and 3 
times higher for women who live in Birkenhead and 
Tranmere than those who live in Heswall. For males, 
the 4 wards with the lowest life expectancy at birth in 
2014-2016 were also the 4 wards with the highest rates 
of avoidable mortality in 2012-2016.

Page 23



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

16

ClatterbridgeHeswall

West Kirby &
Thurstaston

Hoylake & Meols 

Greasby, Irby
& Frankby

Pensby &
Thingwall

Leasowe  &
Moreton East

Moreton
West &

Saughall
Massie

Wallasey

New
Brighton

Liscard

Seacombe

Birkenhead
& Tranmere

Rock
Ferry

Bromborough

Eastham

Bebington

Prenton

Oxton

Claughton

Bidston & St James

Upton

Rate per 100,000
401+
301 - 400
201 - 300
0 - 200

ClatterbridgeHeswall

West Kirby &
Thurstaston

Hoylake & Meols 

Greasby, Irby
& Frankby

Pensby &
Thingwall

Leasowe  &
Moreton East

Moreton
West &

Saughall
Massie

Wallasey

New
Brighton

Liscard

Seacombe

Birkenhead
& Tranmere

Rock
Ferry

Bromborough

Eastham

Bebington

Prenton

Oxton

Claughton

Bidston & St James

Upton

Rate per 100,000
301+
191 - 300
151 - 190
0 - 150

figure 10: male avoidable death 
rate by wirral ward, 2012-2016.

figure 11: female avoidable death rate 
by wirral ward, 2012-2016.

The maps in Figure 10 and Figure 11 below show that 
the areas with the highest rates of avoidable mortality 
are in the north and east of the borough.

Page 24



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

17

Cancers, cardiovascular disease, respiratory disease, 
gastrointestinal diseases and external causes are the key 
factors responsible for avoidable deaths in Wirral. Many 
diseases in these groups are more likely to occur in the 
presence of environmental and behavioural risk factors 
such as smoking, poor diet and alcohol. 

global burden of disease

The global burden of disease (GBD) is a multinational 
project funded by the World Bank, the World Health 
Organisation, and the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, 
which aims to estimate the burden of disease around 
the world, by disease group, and by behavioural, 
metabolic and environmental risk factors.18    

Burden of disease data is useful for prioritising health 
policy and investments, for instance by knowing 

whether lifestyle risk factors like smoking or alcohol 
use cause the most deaths. There is specific GBD data 
for England available at regional level.19 

For the North West of England in 2015, the biggest 
population-level risk factor for early death was tobacco 
smoking, followed by dietary risks (e.g not eating enough 
fruit and vegetables or eating too much salt), high blood 
pressure, high cholesterol and being overweight or 
obese. The leading risk factors for years lived in poor 
health were being overweight or obese, followed by 
alcohol and drug use, high fasting plasma glucose, 
smoking, and iron deficiency.

Figure 12 below shows the estimated number of deaths 
in Wirral due to selected leading risk factors (those that 
cause more than 100 deaths per year).

figure 12: estimated deaths from risk factors in wirral, 2015.

3. What is contributing to preventable deaths?

Tobacco smoke

Dietary risks

High systolic blood pressure

High total cholesterol

High body-mass index

High fasting plasma glucose

Air pollution

Low physical activity

Occupational risks

Alcohol and drug use

Impaired kidney function

                                                                                                    723

                                                                         554

                                                                    514

                           278

                     239

           185

         161

     136

  118

105

104

100 200 300 400 500 600 700 800

 

 

 

 

 

1

6

6

 

 

 

2

9

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

54

 

Estimated number of deaths

18   Collins, B. (2017). Results from a Well-Being Survey in the North West of England: Inequalities in EQ-5D–Derived Quality-Adjusted Life   
Expectancy Are Mainly Driven by Pain and Mental Health. Value in Health, 20(1), 174-177. http://www.valueinhealthjournal.com/article/S1098-
3015(16)30105-X/pdf
19  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/burden-of-disease-study-for-englandPage 25



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

18

differing health expectations

Some of the variation in health outcomes seen 
between groups and areas may be explained by 
differences in attitudes to illness and health-seeking 
behaviours. These may emerge from different 
perceptions of health and illness in different groups or 
different expectations for health and the type of care 
received.

personal and societal factors

Having low socioeconomic status (SES) means 
living without sufficient resources, be it financial or 
educational to meet your needs.20 Financial pressures 
and competing priorities constrain people’s ability to 
manage their own health. Decisions often focus on the 
here and now and it is often difficult to put valuable 
resources (be it time, money or the delay of pleasure) 
into things that may or may not occur in the future. 

An individual’s economic status is not the only 
determinant of their health. It has been argued that 
more societal inequality is associated with poorer 
health outcomes, partly through increased stress and 
anxiety.21

Perceptions of illness also differ between groups. 
Research into the experience of angina in a deprived 
area of Liverpool found that patients often feared 
hospitals and actively avoided healthcare.22 People 
didn’t know about available treatments for angina 
so learned to cope with their increasingly troubling 
symptoms. People attributed angina to old age even 
when they were only in their 50s and 60s or worried 
about taking valuable treatment away from a younger 
person, feeling that they were less deserving of this 
care.

Other work looking at lung cancer in Liverpool found 
that the diagnosis was feared and that there was a 
significant amount of fatalism – a feeling that lung 
cancer could not be prevented or treated.23 At-risk 
groups perceived lung cancer as a death sentence with 
undesirable treatments, leaving some to feel that they 
‘would rather not know’ if they had lung cancer. Many 
attributed high cancer rates in Liverpool to pollution 
and industry rather than smoking or other personal 
risk factors. Symptoms such as a persistent cough 
were seen as normal and not worthy of healthcare 
consultation.

One theory for why people may respond differently to 
hardship suggests three key factors:

< Whether life events are understandable and   
 happen in a seemingly ordered fashion
< Whether you believe that you have the skills,   
 resources, support or help to take things on
< Whether life is interesting and a source of   
 satisfaction and therefore worthwhile24

These factors are all negatively impacted by poverty 
- low socioeconomic status may make ‘appropriate’ 
reactions to symptoms and illness more difficult.20

healthcare factors

The health system itself may have lower expectations 
for the health of those living in our deprived areas. 
Findings from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing 
found a substantially higher illness burden in less 
wealthy participants. However, this was not matched 
by appropriately higher levels of diagnosis and 
treatment.25 Equitable receipt of a medical diagnosis 
may have an important role in reducing health 
inequalities.

4. Factors contributing to amenable deaths

20  https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/how-poverty-affects-peoples-decision-making-processes
21  https://www.equalitytrust.org.uk/resources/the-spirit-level
22  http://www.bmj.com/content/319/7207/418
23  Lung Cancer Screening Scoping Paper - Update – Public Health Liverpool (2015) 
24  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2465600/
25  https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4212182/ Page 26



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

19

immunisations

Influenza (Flu)
Immunisation against seasonal flu is recommended 
for those aged over 65 or those in an at-risk group, as 
well as pregnant women and children. For under 65s, 
those in at-risk groups are more than ten times as 
likely to die from flu as those not in a risk group.26 The 
flu vaccination is associated with a lower risk of cardiac 
events in those with heart conditions, and reduced 
hospitalisations among people with diabetes and 
chronic lung disease.27, 28

In Wirral, the uptake of the flu vaccine in high-risk 
under 65s varies between GP practices from more 
than 70% to under 40%. This is illustrated in Figure 13. 
Our vaccination coverage for flu in all at-risk individuals 
(all ages) was 49.6% in 2015-16, significantly lower than 
the national average, though similar to other areas in 
the North West.29

pneumococcal
This vaccination is recommended to people aged over 
65 and high-risk groups and is effective in protecting 
against a common cause of pneumonia, a significant 
cause of avoidable mortality.30 While the majority of 
Wirral’s GP practices are achieving uptake rates of over 
70%, several are achieving under 60%. The gap between 
the best and worst performing practices is considerable, 
as seen in Figure 14.

screening

bowel cancer
When we look at the percentage of eligible people 
aged 60-69 years with a screening test result recorded 
in the previous 2.5 years from the NHS bowel cancer 
screening programme in Wirral, our rates are lower 
than comparable CCG areas at 55.9%. We can also see 
that rates vary significantly between GP practice.

26  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-flu-programme-training-slide-set-for-healthcare-professionals
27  https://www.cdc.gov/flu/about/qa/vaccineeffect.htm 
28 https://www.cdc.gov/flu/news/flu-vaccine-saved-lives.htm
29 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/public-health-outcomes-framework-may-2017-data-update
30 https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/vpd/pneumo/public/

Wirral Average 50.3

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

U
pt

ak
e 

of
 in

fl
ue

nz
a 

va
cc

in
e 

(%
)

Wirral GP Practice

Figure 13: Uptake of influenza vaccine in high-risk 
groups aged 6 months to 65 years (2015/16) by 
wirral gp practice.

Wirral Average 71.6

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

U
pt

ak
e 

of
 p

ne
um

oc
oc

ca
l v

ac
ci

ne
 (%

)

Wirral GP Practice

figure 14: uptake of pneumococcal vaccine (ppV) in 
wirral gp practices (2015/16).

Page 27



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

20

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Pe
rs

on
s 

(6
0-

69
) s

cr
ee

ne
d 

fo
r 

bo
w

el
 c

an
ce

r 
in

 la
st

 3
0 

m
on

th
s 

(2
.5

 y
ea

r 
co

ve
ra

ge
, %

)

10 20 30 40 50 60
GP Deprivation Score

Wirral Average 74.16

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

Br
ea

st
 c

an
ce

r 
sc

re
en

in
g 

up
ta

ke
 (%

)

Wirral GP Practice

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Fe
m

al
es

 (5
0-

70
) s

cr
ee

ne
d 

fo
r

br
ea

st
 c

an
ce

r 
in

 la
st

 3
6 

m
on

th
s

(3
 y

ea
r 

co
ve

ra
ge

, %
)

10 20 30 40 50 60
GP Deprivation Score

figure 15: persons aged 60-69 screened for bowel 
cancer in last 30 months (2.5 year coverage, %) by 
wirral gp practice.

figure 16: correlation between gp deprivation score 
and bowel cancer screening coverage.31

figure 17: females aged 50-70 screened for breast 
cancer in last 36 months (3 year coverage, %) by 
wirral gp practice.

figure 18: correlation between gp deprivation score 
and breast cancer screening coverage.32 

31  The R2 value of 0.82 means that 82% of the variation in screening rates seen between GP practices is explained by the change in   
deprivation score. 
32  The R2 value of 0.75 means that 75% of the variation in screening rates seen between GP practices is explained by the change in   
deprivation score.

Wirral Average 55.87

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Bo
w

el
 c

an
ce

r 
sc

re
en

in
g 

up
ta

ke
 (%

)

Wirral GP Practice

Figure 15 shows the percentage of eligible people 
screened by GP practices, ranked in order. Rates vary 
from more than 60% to less than 40%. We can also 
see in Figure 16 that as the deprivation score for a GP 
practice increases (located in a more deprived area), 
screening rates decrease. 

breast cancer
For breast cancer screening, we have an average 
screening rate of 74.2%, which is higher than our 
peers. 

However, Figure 17 shows that the percentage of women 
aged 50-70 screened within the last 3 years varies from 
more than 80% in some practices to less than 60% 
in others. Again, as GP deprivation score increases, 
screening rates decrease, as shown in Figure 18.

Page 28



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

21

Variation in healthcare between 
wirral and other areas

commissioning for Value

NHS RightCare and Public Health England produce 
Commissioning for Value packs, which helps local 
areas identify conditions and treatments where 
outcomes vary significantly compared to other parts of 
the country.35, 36 Many relate to conditions responsible 
for avoidable deaths in Wirral.

The NHS RightCare approach to quality improvement 
provides support on:
< Where to look
< What to change
< How to change it

The uptake rates also vary significantly between 
practices. In some, almost all of those invited receive a 
Health Check, whereas for others it is fewer than 1 in 
3, as illustrated in Figure 20.

nhs health checks

The NHS Health Checks programme is the biggest CVD 
screening programme in the world, with more than 5 
million people in England screened since 2013. NHS 
Health Checks should be offered to men and women 
aged 40-74 every 5 years.33 The programme aims to 
identify vascular risk factors and reduce diabetes, 
heart disease, kidney disease, stroke and dementia. In 
England, approximately half of those offered a Health 
Check receive one and 1 in 3 of those eligible received 
a Health Check in the previous 5 years.34

In Wirral, 80% of those eligible have been offered a 
Health Check over the past 5 years. 44% of those 
offered received a Health Check, which is 35% of the 
eligible population; similar to national figures.

However, there is marked variation by GP practice. If 
eligible people should receive a Health Check every 
5 years then we would expect 20% to be invited and 
attend a Health Check per year. As Figure 19 shows, 
some GP practices invited more than 50% of eligible 
people for a Health Check in 2014-2015, whereas 
others invited less than 10%.

20% Annual Target

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0Pa
ti

en
ts

 in
vi

te
d 

fo
r 

a 
N

H
S 

H
ea

lt
h 

Ch
ec

k 
(%

)

Wirral GP Practice

100

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

N
H

S 
H

ea
lt

h 
Ch

ec
k 

U
pt

ak
e 

(%
)

75% Target

Wirral GP Practice

figure 20: percentage of invited patients taking up 
the offer of a Health Check (1st April 2015 - 31st 
march 2016) by wirral gp practice.

figure 19: percentage of eligible population invited 
for a health check (1st april 2014 – 31st march 2015) 
by wirral gp practice.

33  http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/nhs-health-check/Pages/NHS-Health-Check.aspx
34  http://www.healthcheck.nhs.uk/commissioners_and_providers/data/
35 https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/wp-content/uploads/sites/40/2017/01/cfv-wirral-jan17.pdf
36 https://www.england.nhs.uk/rightcare/wp-content/uploads/sites/40/2016/08/cfv-wirral-ltc.pdfPage 29



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

22

37  Our peer, demographically similar CCG areas are Wakefield, Wigan Borough, North Tyneside, South Sefton, Barnsley, Stockport,   
Sunderland, St Helens, Rotherham, Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield 
38  https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/documents/DiagnosticAtlas_FINAL.pdf

Improving Wirral’s healthcare system performance to 
that of its peer Clinical Commissioning Groups could 
lead to significant improvements in illness rates or 
early deaths, as well as reducing the financial burden 
on the system.37

Examples include: 
< Breast and bowel cancer screening rates are 

poorer than in comparable CCG areas. For lung 
cancer, our 1-year survival from diagnosis is lower 
than our peers.

< Hypertension and coronary heart disease are 
recorded less frequently in Wirral than prevalence 
estimates would suggest. Cholesterol levels in 
patients with coronary heart disease or diabetes 
and blood pressure in those with hypertension are 
inadequately controlled in more of our patients 
than for our peers.

< Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is an 
important cause of avoidable death in Wirral, yet 
it is underdiagnosed compared to its estimated 
prevalence.

< Our rates of emergency admissions for peptic 
ulceration or upper gastro intestinal bleeds are 
higher than our peers, as are our alcohol-specific 
hospital admissions.

< Wirral’s death rates from accidents are higher than 
our peers, as are injuries due to falls, and fracture 
admissions in those aged over 65.

< The proportion of patients being seen within 6 
weeks of an IAPT (Improving Access to Psychological 
Therapies) referral is lower than our peers and 
our excess deaths in adults under 75 years old 
with severe mental illnesses is one of the worst in 
England.

Variation in diagnostic testing

There are marked differences in rates of diagnostic 
testing across England (e.g screening or other tests 
to determine presence or absence of disease). These 
differences may be due to variations in need, provision, 
referral or access and the availability of alternative 
tests. Appropriate use of investigations must be 
balanced against the risk of harm from the test or from 
overdiagnosis of the condition.38

Our coverage of men aged 65 in the NHS abdominal 
aortic aneurysm (AAA) screening programme was lower 
than the England average at 77%, though this had 
improved between 2013/14 and 2014/15.

Our bowel cancer screening rates are significantly lower 
than the national average and colorectal cancer is a 
notable cause of avoidable mortality in Wirral.38 

Upper gastrointestinal investigation rates (gastroscopies 
and endoscopic ultrasounds) are high in Wirral. Some 
of this will be explained by the high rates of alcohol-
specific admissions and upper gastrointestinal bleed 
admissions seen locally.38

Such aggregate figures can mask inequalities within 
Wirral. For example, it is likely that there will be higher 
rates of AAA (abdominal aortic aneurysms) in more 
deprived areas (due to risk factors such as smoking 
and high blood pressure). There is a lower uptake of 
many screening programmes in these areas.

Those who would benefit most from this screening are 
the least likely to receive it.

Page 30



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

23

5. How can we reduce avoidable deaths?
To reduce avoidable deaths we need local 
organisations and people to work together to make 
the borough a healthier place to live and work. 

Action needs to span prevention, diagnosis and 
treatment, as illustrated in Figure 21, and begins 
with continued efforts to reform the structural 
and socioeconomic determinants of health before 
examining individual and healthcare domains.

In his influential 2002 report, Derek Wanless modelled 
three scenarios to estimate their impacts on the future 
of the NHS and the health of British people.39 The most 
optimistic described a state of full engagement, where 
the public use all available information to take control 
of their own health. There is a dramatic decline in risk 
factors such as smoking and obesity with the greatest 
improvements seen in areas of deprivation. People would 
then live longer lives and spend fewer years in ill health 
and health and social care services would modernise 
rapidly to deliver innovative, high quality services to the 
engaged population.

Such a scenario requires a different conversation 
between public services and the public, where goals 
are shared and each take responsibility for improving 
health. Though the report was produced 15 years ago, 
these aspirations are as relevant and desirable today.

Empowering people to take control of their own 
health and become experts in their own conditions 
is key to improving care, as even those with chronic 
conditions will have limited contact time with health 
professionals.40 

New models of care that offer easy access to 
information, and digital technologies like wearable 
devices, telehealth and home monitoring are critical. 

39  http://www.yearofcare.co.uk/sites/default/files/images/Wanless.pdf
40  https://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf
41  https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/181103/Living_well_for_longer.pdf

PREVENTION DIAGNOSIS TREATMENT

Wider social determinants

Behavioural factors

Primary care

NHS Health Check

Public awareness campaigns

Screening programmes

Acute diagnostic test

Hospital or community treatmentProviders making every contact count

figure 21: domains of intervention, reproduced from living well for longer (doh, 2013).41

Page 31



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

24

working together

Working across the domains of prevention, diagnosis 
and treatment means working across organisational 
boundaries and making our residents’ health and 
wellbeing our primary focus. However, our current 
ways of working often focus on treating those with 
established disease in acute settings. We must 
incentivise the health and social care system to 
prioritise prevention and reduce variation in care 
and outcomes. We must share knowledge, expertise 
and resources and be prepared to work in new and 
innovative ways.

Services should be integrated across primary, 
community, social and acute sectors, with connections 
into the voluntary sector to reduce the risk of hospital 
admission and increase the availability of care in a 
local community based setting and, where possible, in 
people’s homes. 

42  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-health-and-care-planning-menu-of-preventative-interventions

All providers and commissioners should see 
themselves as responsible for the health and wellbeing 
of all Wirral’s residents.

Public Health England recommends that clinical 
commissioning groups (CCGs), local authorities and 
other local partners work collaboratively to establish 
effective and comprehensive pathways of care based 
on the local population needs.42 

Wirral Council and Wirral CCG have taken the first 
steps in creating a system of integrated commissioning 
and this is an exciting opportunity to join up health 
and social care across the borough.

Page 32



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

25

smoking
Smoking remains the single biggest risk factor for early 
death in Wirral and is the primary reason for the gap in 
life expectancy between our most and least deprived 
areas.43 Smoking is a significant contributor to avoidable 
mortality in Wirral through heart disease, cancers 
and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. We must 
continue to target reductions in tobacco use.

Smokers who manage to quit reduce their lifetime 
health and social care costs by 48% and the biggest 
short-term savings come from helping those in contact 
with the NHS to stop smoking. Delivering assessment, 
very brief advice and referral during every patient 
episode in secondary care would increase quit rates 
and be cost-saving within 5 years.

43  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-health-and-care-planning-menu-of-preventative-interventions
44 https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5201385
45  http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/breast-cancer/diagnosis-and-
treatment#heading-Seven 
46 http://www.cancerresearchuk.org/health-professional/cancer-statistics/statistics-by-cancer-type/breast-cancer/diagnosis-and-
treatment#heading-Eight

Focus on specific causes of avoidable death

case study 1: smoke free nhs
The Clatterbridge Cancer Centre has partnered with 
Wirral Council in an ambitious project to become 
a smoke-free site. Not only does stopping smoking 
massively reduce your risk of developing cancer, but 
it also makes treatment for cancer more effective.44 
The Trust’s policies are being updated following a 
thorough examination of the patient pathways to 
find out what works and identify any blockages. This 
work also challenges the perceptions of staff and 
patients through innovative internal and external 
marketing. The goal is that all patients and relatives 
who smoke are supported to quit.

case study 2:
Even those who are very ill can be supported to stop 
smoking. A 42 year old man admitted to Arrowe 
Park Hospital with kidney and liver failure related 
to alcohol use, was supported to quit with nicotine 
replacement therapy during his inpatient stay. He 
had ongoing home visits and telephone support after 
discharge and remained smoke free 30 weeks later.

screening
Reducing inequalities in screening uptake within Wirral 
could lead to health gains and reductions in premature 
mortality. For example, 8 women in every 1000 who are 
screened for breast cancer are found to have breast 
cancer.45 Women whose breast cancer is diagnosed 
through screening are more likely to be alive at three years 
than through any other route and breast screening saves 
approximately 1300 lives in the UK annually.46

If all GP practices whose breast screening rates are 
below the current Wirral average (74.2%) improved 
to the Wirral average, we would expect to screen an 
additional 1200 women per screening round. This could 
identify an additional 10 breast cancers and save 7 lives, 
as illustrated in Figure 22.

Beyond this relatively modest ambition, if every eligible 
woman in Wirral was screened, we could save 60 lives 
per screening round. Though a 100% uptake may not 
be a realistic ambition, it does illustrate the potential 
benefits if improvements are made.

For bowel cancer screening, if all GP practices whose rates 
were below the Wirral average (55.9%) improved to that 
average, we would expect to find 4 additional cancers per 
screening round. Public Health England produce a return 
on investment tool for colorectal cancers, which includes 

figure 22: example improvement in females aged 50-
70 screened for breast cancer by wirral gp practice

90

80

70

60

50

40

30

20

10

0

Wirral Average

Wirral GP Practice

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
 o

f w
om

en
 a

ge
d 

50
-7

0
sc

re
en

ed
 fo

r 
br

ea
st

 c
an

ce
r

Page 33



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

26

47  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/return-on-investment-tool-colorectal-cancer
48  https://www.incisivehealth.com/uploads/Saving%20lives%20averting%20costs.pdf
49  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-health-and-care-planning-menu-of-preventative-interventions
50  http://www.phoutcomes.info/public-health-outcomes-framework#page/0/gid/1000042/pat/6/par/E12000002/ati/102/are/E08000015

a number of interventions to increase screening rates 
and allows calculation of expected costs and benefits.47 

Five-year survival is vastly improved by earlier diagnosis 
of bowel cancer and a patient diagnosed late costs the 
NHS around £12,500 compared to £3,400 if diagnosed 
early.48 The cost and impact on them and their families 
would also be considerable.

diet, exercise and obesity
Poor diet and being overweight or obese are important 
underlying causes of death in Wirral. Factors such as 
food composition, marketing, availability and price have 
considerable impacts on consumption and health but 
there are many areas where we can have a local impact.

Our weight management services should be 
co-commissioned so that patients experience a 

Since April 2016, Wirral has taken a new approach 
to supporting individuals who need some help with 
achieving and maintaining a healthy weight.Wirral 
Council has entered into an arrangement with 
Slimming World and Weight Watchers under which 
qualifying residents can access 12 weeks of free 
healthy lifestyle (Tier II) intervention from their choice 
of these providers. The sessions provide a balance 
of healthy eating advice, help with becoming more 
active and motivational input to support individuals 
with challenging changes. 

Target weights for service users are discussed and set 
early on in the intervention and if these are met, there 
are opportunities to stay within services and receive 
free, on-going support. Access to this service is via the 
GP surgery where GPs, practice nurses and sometimes 
health care assistants can refer people for support.

So far, the new approach has been very successful 
and proved to be popular with both service users 

and referrers alike. Up until February 2017, when the 
service had been operating for 12 months, a total of 
1240 individuals had accessed support with 28% of 
these losing a clinically significant 5% of their body 
weight – a degree of weight loss linked directly to 
reduced health risks e.g. type 2 diabetes.

Encouragingly, we have seen more referrals from our 
more deprived areas than less deprived areas but 
more than 85% of referrals are in women, suggesting 
that men are less likely to benefit from the services.
Despite the good outcomes that some experience 
following engagement with these services, we must 
be honest about the scale of the problem that obesity 
presents. Two-thirds of Wirral’s adults are overweight 
or obese.50 A third of Year 6 primary school children 
are overweight or obese and for many this means a 
lifetime of excess weight. It is not desirable or feasible 
for this problem to be managed though individual 
engagement with services and we need an upstream 
approach that prevents obesity across the life course.

case study 3: tier ii weight management serVice

comprehensive and integrated service.49 Wirral CCG 
and Wirral Council will soon be co-commissioning tier II 
and tier III services.

All public sector sites should provide healthy food and 
drink options. Wirral Council should continue to work 
with local retailers to increase the availability of healthy 
food options.

Increasing physical activity can improve cardiovascular 
health and mental health and reduce cancers and type 
II diabetes. Options to help people be more active range 
from encouraging active travel through transport and 
planning policy, incentivising cycling to work through 
bike schemes and staff parking policies, using national 
campaigns to promote exercise, and helping healthcare 
staff to deliver brief advice around exercise.49 

Page 34



high blood pressure
Heart disease and strokes are key causes of avoidable 
deaths in Wirral and high blood pressure contributes 
to both. The Cheshire and Merseyside Public Health 
Collaborative (Champs) have developed a programme to 
prevent, detect and treat hypertension.51 This ambitious 
approach aims to help the estimated 350,000 people 
across Cheshire and Merseyside with diagnosed high blood 
pressure and the further 275,000 who are thought to be 
affected, but are unaware that they have the condition.

Coronary heart disease was the largest single cause 
of avoidable mortality in Wirral, and nationally it is 
responsible for 1 in 4 premature deaths.52 A Public 
Health England tool estimates that if all GP practices 
performed as well as the 75th percentile for managing 
blood pressure in people with hypertension (better than 
the bottom three-quarters of practices)53, then over 5 
years we would expect to prevent:

<	20 strokes  <	8 diagnoses of heart failure
<	13 heart attacks <	10 deaths

This would equate to savings to the NHS of over £370,000 
per year, as well as social care savings of nearly £80,000.

PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

27

diabetes
Approximately 10% of the NHS budget is spent on 
diabetes treatment.54 Prevention of obesity is a key 
component in preventing and ameliorating type 2 
diabetes but the impact of the disease can be reduced 
through improved patient education and access to 
regular checks and reviews.

The management of diabetes is an excellent example of 
how patient empowerment could improve outcomes. 
We need to design services that promote self-care; 
allowing people to become experts in their own health 
so they can manage their condition more effectively and 
reduce complications related to their disease.

The Healthier You: Diabetes Prevention Programme 
delivered in Wirral offers evidence based interventions 
to delay or prevent onset of Type 2 diabetes in those 
already identified to be at high risk.

By supporting people to take control of their own 
health, and make changes to their diet, weight and the 
amount of exercise they do the programme can reduce 
the risk of, or even stop people, developing Type 2 
diabetes.

51  http://www.champspublichealth.com/sites/default/files/FINAL%20BP%20Strategy%2017.5.16_0.pdf
52 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/556135/Action_on_cardiovascular_disease-getting_serious_
about_prevention.pdf
53  http://www.yhpho.org.uk/nop/
54  https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-health-and-care-planning-menu-of-preventative-interventions

About 1 in 4 UK residents have undiagnosed and 
untreated high blood pressure. Wirral Council 
joined pharmacies across the borough in pledging 
to check as many blood pressures as possible 
during Know Your Numbers Week in late 2016.

As part of this, the team set up a stall in 
Birkenhead Market for a day. Of nearly 400 blood 
pressures checked, 75 were found to be elevated 
and a further 10 were deemed dangerously high 

and required urgent assessment. We have built 
on this success with several more events across 
Wirral this year.

If you are aged 40 – 74, with no previous history of 
cardiovascular disease, you are eligible for a free 
Health Check every 5 years at your GP practice. 
This is an excellent opportunity to get your blood 
pressure checked as well looking at your weight, 
diet, smoking, lifestyle, memory and family history.

case study 4: know your numbers week, sept 2016

Page 35



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

28

55  www.healthcheck.nhs.uk/document.php?o=1293
56 http://www.healthcheck.nhs.uk/commissioners_and_providers/data/north_of_england/north_west/?la=Wirral&laid=73 
57 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-health-and-care-planning-menu-of-preventative-interventions
58 http://www.nwph.net/Publications/NNT_FINAL.pdf
59 https://discover.dc.nihr.ac.uk/portal/article?id=SIG-5000420&utm_content=bufferbca44&utm_medium=social&utm_source=twitter.
com&utm_campaign=buffer#.WT5JmpxlkQ8.email 
60  http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/ourjsna/falls_older_people.html
61 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-health-and-care-planning-menu-of-preventative-interventions
62  http://info.wirral.nhs.uk/document_uploads/JSNA%202017/Suicide_Audit_2015_FINAL.pdf

advice, 1 person would reduce their drinking to safer 
levels and if this is implemented systematically, there is 
great potential to help a large number of people.58

respiratory disease
It is likely that  chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 
(COPD) is underdiagnosed and insufficiently monitored 
in Wirral. In addition to this, the variations in vaccination 
rates seen mean that some of our high risk residents 
are not protected against influenza or pneumococcal 
pneumonia. One episode of community acquired 
pneumonia is avoided for every 21 people with 
COPD who are given the pneumococcal vaccination.59 
Vaccinating just 8 people should prevent one 
exacerbation of COPD over the next 2 years.

falls and external causes
Falls are a significant cause of avoidable mortality 
(all ages) and the largest external cause of mortality. 
In Wirral, 7 in 10 people attending A&E for falls are 
aged over 65, and of those, 7 in 10 are female.60 Apart 
from avoidable deaths, falls account for 40% of care 
home admissions and cost the health and social care 
economy around £8.9 million per year.

Interventions and services that target a range of risk 
factors for falls are the most successful at preventing 
them and treating between 5 and 25 people in this 
way will prevent one fall on average. PHE advocate 
strength and balance exercise programmes for older 
people and the development of fracture liaison 
services in acute trusts.61 Suicide is most common in 
those aged under 65 and is more common in men 
than women in Wirral.62 The causes and possible ways 
to prevent suicide are complex and a comprehensive 
programme of activity is needed to reduce its impact.

case study 5: 
wirral local alcohol action area
In early 2017, Wirral was awarded Local Alcohol Action 
Area status by the Home Office. This means that Wirral 
is part of a prestigious national project which aims 
to reduce health harms to local people from alcohol 
misuse through improved data sharing and intelligent 
use of information between local organisations.

health checks
We must make efforts to better understand the 
difference in invitation and uptake rates in NHS Health 
Checks seen within Wirral.55 Nearly 100,000 people 
are eligible for an NHS Health Check in Wirral but 
fewer than 40,000 received one in the past 5 years.56 
Performing just 1000 extra Health Checks might 
identify 100 people at high risk of cardiovascular 
disease, diagnose 5-10 cases of type II diabetes and 
find more than 25 people with high blood pressure.55

alcohol
Wirral’s residents, families, communities and services 
experience a particularly high burden of ill-health and 
social harm from alcohol. We are working to improve 
the environment through licensing interventions 
and changes to the way alcohol is sold. We are also 
minimising harm from super-strength alcohol through 
our Reducing the Strength Scheme. We should ensure 
that our hospital alcohol care team delivers evidence 
based care and training to the wider workforce on 
delivering identification and brief advice (IBA).57

Brief advice for people drinking to excess should be 
delivered in primary and secondary health care with 
robust referral pathways to those who need additional 
support. On average, for every 8 people who receive brief 

Page 36



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

29

case study 6: 
suicide preVention
Wirral Council is playing a leading role in developing 
and delivering the No More Suicide strategy across 
the Cheshire and Merseyside region through 
the Champs Public Health Collaborative.63 This 
comprehensive programme of work aims to 
improve mental wellbeing and resilience in at-
risk groups and reduce access to the means of 
suicide. Suicide prevention training will be delivered 
to key members of the local workforce and the 
stigma associated with poor mental health will 
be challenged through a programme of events 
including several on Tranmere Rovers Football Club 
match days, which should engage with men aged 
20-40 who are at the greatest risk of suicide.

empowering people and 
communities

Wirral is one of only 15 areas selected to work with NHS 
England to support local people to take a more active 
role in their own health and wellbeing. This includes 
working in partnership with communities to build public 
health and wellbeing through connecting people to 
activities and support in their local communities and 
Supporting self-care for people living with long-term 
conditions.  As part of this programme there is a focus 
upon identifying people with long-term conditions 
who need more support to manage their health and 
wellbeing in order to improve their health outcomes.

redesigning local serVices to 
promote self-care and early 
interVention

As part of the Healthy Wirral Programme local partners 
have been piloting new ways of delivering care for 
people living with diabetes and respiratory disease in 
Wirral. This involves care being delivered in an integrated 
way across primary, community, social and acute sectors 
with connections into the voluntary sector. 

The programme aims to empower and enable people 
to understand and manage their condition in order 
to stay healthy and out of hospital. There is a focus 
on improving outcomes for all and reducing health 
inequalities. Specialist care has been moved out of the 
hospital and into local community settings with a focus 
on areas of greatest need.

63  http://www.no-more.co.uk/ Page 37



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

30

This report has demonstrated that there are high 
numbers of avoidable deaths occurring across Wirral 
and that these deaths are more likely to occur within 
our poorest communities and in males.  

The main reasons people are dying at an early age are 
cancer, heart disease and strokes, respiratory disease, 
alcohol related liver disease, falls and suicides.

There are numerous examples of good practice across 
Wirral to reduce avoidable deaths. However, if we are 
going to have an impact on avoidable mortality and 
the health inequalities that drive it, there is a need 
to put prevention first and develop interventions on 
an industrial scale. Potential measures that could be 
introduced across Wirral in order to reduce avoidable 
mortality include:

for wirral partners:
< Wirral Council and partner organisations working 

together to tackle the wider determinants of 
health such as housing, environment, economy 
etc.  The Marmot Review into health inequalities 
in England (2010) put forward an evidence based 
strategy to address the social determinants of 
health. It recognised that the conditions in which 
people are born, live, work and age lead to health 
inequalities.

< introducing a minimum price per unit of 
alcohol. The Independent Review of the Effects 
of Alcohol Pricing and Promotion found that 
introducing a minimum price per unit would save 
lives, reduce hospital admissions and reduce levels 
of crime.  Introducing a minimum price of 50p. per 
unit would save 4 lives each year and prevent 149 
hospital admissions across Wirral.

< actively promoting and facilitating healthy 
lifestyles within private and public sector 
workforces (targeting manual workers). Even within 
the current economic climate, the business case 
for creating healthier workplaces remains strong 
(including such benefits as improved staff morale, 
service quality and reduced sickness absence).

for health and social care organisations:
< Train frontline staff in brief interventions 

on lifestyle issues, e.g. alcohol, smoking, healthy 
weight.  The use of brief advice has been shown to 
be effective and cost-effective; for every eight people 
who receive simple advice on alcohol misuse, one 
will reduce their drinking to within lower-risk levels.  

< increase uptake and accessibility to stop 
smoking services, smoking remains the main cause 
of avoidable death; it is the primary reason for the 
gap in healthy life expectancy between rich and poor

< increase the uptake of national screening 
programmes across Wirral by the use of GP led 
initiatives and social marketing campaigns aimed at 
high risk groups. Locally 1 in 5 women do not take 
up the offer of breast screening and 1 in 3 people 
do not take the opportunity to be screened for 
bowel cancer. analysis suggests focusing initial 
campaigns on 4 cancer sites: colorectal, breast, 
bladder and skin could potentially save 1 life 
every 4 days in wirral.

< raising awareness of early signs and symptoms 
of cancer in all frontline health and social care staff.

< Increasing the uptake of the influenza 
vaccinations amongst younger people classified 
as being at high risk. Currently in Wirral only 50% 
of people classified as being at high risk, under 65 
years of age, have a seasonal flu jab leaving around 
18,000 people unprotected during the winter flu 
season.

< GP practices investigating the potential barriers 
to accessing healthcare for high risk groups 
particularly males living in deprived areas and 
developing services to reflect the needs of this 
population.

< implementing nhs health checks. If the Health 
Checks programme in Wirral had achieved the local 
uptake target of 60% (the actual was 42.6%) we 
could have identified an additional 123 people with 
high blood pressure, 29 people with type 2 diabetes 
and 14 people with chronic kidney disease. 

6. Recommendations

Page 38



PUBLIC HEALTH ANNUAL REPORT 2017

31

64 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/598271/BOSP01_bowel_cancer_facts.pdf

conclusion

The recommendations highlight potential measures to 
reduce avoidable deaths across Wirral.  However it is 
in no way exhaustive.   It is recognised that, in reality, 
there will always be some deaths from avoidable 
causes simply due to the range of factors that impact 
on people’s lives, including lifestyle, health beliefs, 
availability and access to healthcare, accidents, etc.  

However, reducing avoidable deaths by improving the 
health of the population and reducing or delaying the 
onset of long-term conditions, such as heart disease, 
chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, etc., is an 
essential part of increasing the quality of life for local 
people, whilst helping to reduce the impact of an ageing 
population on health and social care services.

< promote self-care and early intervention: 
Care needs to be delivered in an integrated way 
across primary, community, social and acute sectors 
with connections into the voluntary sector. We are 
one of only 15 areas selected to work with NHS 
England to support local people to take a more 
active role in their own health and wellbeing, we 
need to maximise the opportunities this provides us.

for wirral residents:
< expect better for yourself. Help friends and 

relatives benefit from healthier lives, screening 
opportunities and healthcare by seeking help for 
symptoms of serious diseases.

< Screening tests save lives by catching things early, 
when they can be treated. if you are invited, 
please get the test done. If you have any worries, 
talk it through with your GP surgery. Screening is 
available for breast, bowel and cervical cancer as 
well as abdominal aortic aneurysms (weaknesses in 
one of the main blood vessels).

< Understand the benefits of screening.
- If every woman in Wirral had their breast cancer 

screening, we could expect to save an extra 60 
lives every 3 years.

- Bowel cancer is the second most common cause 
of cancer deaths in the UK, but regular bowel 
cancer screening reduces the risk of dying from 
bowel cancer by 16%.64

< take control of your own health. Learn what 
makes a healthy lifestyle and make those small 
changes that can make a big difference to your health.

< make use of information services like NHS 
Choices online or speak to your local pharmacist. You 
can ask your GP surgery about help with smoking or 
your weight, as well as getting symptoms checked out.

< Why not get some free help on your phone and 
try a healthy living app like NHS Smokefree, One 
You Drinks Tracker, Change4Life Be Food Smart or 
even Public Health England’s Couch to 5K?

Page 39



30

Page 40



1

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
15 NOVEMBER 2017

REPORT TITLE Unplanned Care Update

REPORT SUMMARY
The following report provides the Wirral Health and Wellbeing Board with an update on 
progress and developments across the unplanned care system, overseen by A&E Delivery 
Board. 

Background: 
Wirral faced a challenging period during the winter of 2016, continuing to date. The 
acute hospital and A&E saw unprecedented pressure during winter 16/17. There has 
been little let up on that pressure throughout the summer months.  
From a community perspective, domiciliary care has been challenging, we have 
experienced key providers leaving the market at a time of increased demand for 
services. Recruitment & retention of key professionals, especially therapists, nurses 
and care staff has also had an impact. 
The system also recognised the need to deliver transformational change, across all 
organisations, including the need for a real shift in behaviours and culture to be able to 
respond resiliently to demand and ensure positive patient outcomes and experiences.
The above challenges have resulted in consistent non-achievement of the 4 hour 
standard.  As such the acute has been in the bottom quartile nationally for performance 
during the first two quarters of the year. This is a situation owned and recognised as a 
whole system challenge, requiring collaborate solutions and significant transformational 
change at pace.

The urgent care challenges for Wirral are therefore a priority, acknowledging all 
organisations have a part to play and that there are opportunities to improve 
connections between planned and unplanned care. 

Transformational Priorities going forward for 17/19
The system has agreed the following priorities, based on a combination of national best 
practice guidance, mandated practice and assessment and understanding of the local 
situation:

I. Implementation of primary care streaming at the front door
II. Consistent and complete implementation of safer throughout the hospital & 

community beds
III. Revised integrated discharge team construct
IV. Implementation, expansion and embedding of Transfer to Assess (T2A) - 

transfer to assess in the person’s  own home or dedicated community bed,  
including Trusted Assessor, single joint assessment and care planning. 

V. Expansion of admission avoidance schemes including Rapid Community 
Service, Green Car ensuring resilience 

Page 41

Agenda Item 5b



2

VI. Investment in domiciliary care & commissioning of alternate models, to ensure 
responsive & flexible capacity, supporting flow across the system

VII. Support to care homes including tele triage, care home connector training, 
upscaling of staff with increased access to specialist support

VIII. Demand divergence from hospitals: ambulances reducing ambulance 
conveyances

IX. Whole system therapy redesign, developing a generic offer and supporting a 
‘shift left’ to minimise hospital stays and avoid patients becoming unnecessarily 
dependent. 

X. Whole system approach to Business Intelligence, monitoring and evaluation, 
evidencing return on investment (ROI), value for money (VFM) with clear 
trajectories to achieve Key performance indicators (KPI’s), supported with an 
overarching dashboard with tight oversight & evaluation

The system is actively working with the Emergency care Improvement team (ECIP), Ernst 
Young (EY) and AQUA to support the transformational programme.  EY have undertaken 
a 6 week evidence based diagnostic to review drivers of delay and identify and prioritise 
high impact change opportunities. AQUA are reviewing the effectiveness of A&E Delivery 
Board and working with the unplanned exec team to take forward recommendations.  
ECIP are supporting whole system transformational redesign.

The key issue for Wirral partners is to turnaround urgent care delivery in Wirral and ensure 
performance is significantly improved over the coming winter months .The key must dos to 
address the current Wirral situation and improve performance are:

 Admission avoidance:  (Target to reduce admissions by 3.5%)
o Implement clinical streaming at the front door (live 4 September 2017)

o Review all admission avoidance schemes to ensure ROI, VFM and resilient 
deliverability (Nov report). This includes links with North west ambulance 
service, 111 and Wirral’s directory of services.  Implement quick wins.(Oct-
Dec)

o Implement enhanced Primary care extended access – 7day 8-8 enhanced 
GP access available from 30 November.

 Internal Flow
o Implementing SAFER standards across the hospital. On track for trajectory 

to discharge 33% of patients before midday by March.
o Twice weekly stranded patient reviews. (focussing on patients over 7 days 

length of stay  
o Safer and Stranded approach being applied to Community T2A Beds.
o Revised timings and construct of bed meetings
o Extended bed management team
o Bronze/Silver/Gold command structure

Page 42



3

 Discharge: 
o Ensure Delayed transfer of care target is no more than 3.5% by October 

2017. As of 30 October 2017, performance is 3.6%. Significant improvement 
from 4.2% in July.

o New model and approach implemented and now being embedded, with new 
structure.

o Implement Trusted Assessor. Pilot in place to support care home 
assessments and domiciliary care reviews.

o T2A home first on track to scale up. Considering further therapy redesign 
and prioritisation of resources.

 Community Capacity:

a) Domiciliary care
o To reduce the waiting list and ensure flow 
o Current position:  Hospital 

 11 currently awaiting placement (previously 25 awaiting in 
August. Current average 8-11awaiting package of care(POC)

 6 awaiting POC in T2A bed
 Total 74 people awaiting dom care across all areas(was 103 in 

Aug)
o Key actions:

 Accrediting a new provider
 In discussion with Age Uk re dom support for lower level POC
 Wirral wide positive communication campaign and recruitment 

drive
 Piloting new approaches (linked to longer term new 

commission):
 Enhanced dom care (nurse/health practitioner led)
 Liaising with OLA’s  re potential joint solutions
 Liaising with health providers re complex dom care market
 Trusted assessor pilot commenced
 Changes to management oversight to ensure position improved 

and maintained
 Increased funding to domiciliary and reablement providers to 

secure capacity

b) T2A: 

  Whole system capacity and demand modelling due to feedback to exec 16th Nov. 
Will inform future commission of community beds/community capacity

 Implementing and embedding new T2A model and spec. Average Length of stay 
reduced from 4.2 to 2.2 weeks. However, need to address dom care delays as a 
few patients have an average wait of 5.2 weeks.

Page 43



4

 Commission for additional community T2A beds on track, with beds available in 
November and December.

 Commissioner and provider discussions underway developing Clatterbridge option 
to provide additional winter capacity. Executive decision 2 November 2017.

 Current position and Next  Steps: 

The system has improved significantly over the past couple of months. Due to the 
combined efforts to deliver the priorities described, improvement against the 4 hour 
standard has improved by approximately 10% since August/September. The October 
average was 88.33%. We are required by NHSE to deliver 9-% with immediate effect 
and maintain that position until March when 95% will be expected to be maintained.
The system leaders know where further change and grip is required and are fully 
committed to deliver the standards required and ensure patient safety. Further 
priorities include:

o urgent review of the 7 day offer to ensure resources appropriately deployed 
to avoid admissions wherever possible and discharge 7 days a week

o Understand the implications of the outcome of the demand and capacity 
modelling to inform future commissioning decisions

There is a detailed single unplanned care system plan, incorporating winter planning 
and the Better care fund priorities. This has been commended as an approach by 
NHSE and held as national best practice. 

There is now a system dashboard in place with progress monitored and reported by 
exception to A&E delivery board on a monthly basis. 

RECOMMENDATION/S
o Note the progress on priorities overseen by A&E delivery board
o Recognise the interdependencies of all partners to the resilient delivery of 

the 4 hour standard

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S

N/A

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
N/A

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION
N/A

Page 44



5

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
N/A

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
N/A

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS
N/A

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 

N/A

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 

N/A

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS

N/A

REPORT AUTHOR: Jacqui Evans
Assistant Director for Unplanned Care & Community Care
telephone:  (0151 666 3938)
email:   jacquievans@wirral.gov.uk

APPENDICES

REFERENCE MATERIAL

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date

Page 45

mailto:jacquievans@wirral.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
15 NOVEMBER 2017

REPORT TITLE Wirral Better Care Fund Update

REPORT OF Jacqui Evans, Assistant Director for Unplanned Care & 

Community Care Market (CCG/WBC)

REPORT SUMMARY
By way of an update to Health and Wellbeing Board regarding submission of the Better 

Care Fund. Plans were circulated and signatures for approval from all CEO’s received. 

Final submission made on 11 September 2017. Formal notification received 30 October 

2017 (attached letter) from Simon Weldon, Director of NHS operations and delivery, 

NHSE, confirming Wirral’s submission, following regional and national assurance, is 

‘Approved’.

This is excellent news, with Wirral being one of a small number of systems nationally 

approved with no conditions. Feedback from the regional team has been received 

acknowledging the single integrated whole system plan, incorporating BCF, unplanned 

care & winter priorities and recommending as national best practise. 

We are now requested to transfer agreed funds into a pooled budget under a section 75 

agreement. This is to be agreed locally and submitted by 30 November 2017 to NHSE. 

Please note the 2 conditions specified: 

1. That the CCG will meet the performance objectives specified in its BCF plan; and 
2. That the CCG will meet any additional performance objectives specified by NHS 

England from time to time. 

The system is aware of the performance requirements and priorities and working hard to 
deliver. 

Current Performance:
 The admission avoidance target is underperforming by 3.5% and an urgent review 

is underway to address this. Please note there are also some data counting queries 
the CCG is following up directly with NHSE. 

 The Delayed Transfer of Care target is currently on track at 3.6%, required this 
month to get to 3.5%. 

Page 47

Agenda Item 5c



2

 The current projection for the nursing/residential placements is 644.2 per 100,000 
for the year, which is ahead of the 690.6 target. 

 Reablement performance targets are on track with 84.3% of people who have had a 
reablement intervention are still at home 91 days later. 

RECOMMENDATION/S
Health & Wellbeing Board are asked to: 

 Note the progress & outcome of submission

 Note the S75 requirements & timescales

 Include further update on progress at next Health & Wellbeing Board

Page 48



3

1.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S
For information.

2.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED
N/A

3.0 BACKGROUND INFORMATION
N/A

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
Pooled budget S75. 

5.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
N/A

6.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: ICT, STAFFING AND ASSETS
N/A

7.0 RELEVANT RISKS 
Note conditions in report.

8.0 ENGAGEMENT/CONSULTATION 
N/A

9.0 EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS
N/A

REPORT AUTHOR: Jacqui Evans 
Assistant Director – Integrated Commissioning Programme & 
Urgent Care
Telephone: 0151 666 3938 
Email:   jacquievans@wirral.gov.uk 

Page 49

mailto:jacquievans@wirral.gov.uk


4

APPENDICES
Please see attached appendix 1.

REFERENCE MATERIAL
N/A

SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years)
Council Meeting Date
Health & Wellbeing Board
Health & Wellbeing Board
Health & Wellbeing Board
Health & Wellbeing Board 
Health & Wellbeing Board 
Health & Wellbeing Board 
Health & Wellbeing Board 
Health & Wellbeing Board

19.07.17
15.03.17
11.11.15
8.7.15
15.04.15
12.11.14
25.03.14
13.02.14

Page 50



OFFICIAL 

 

High quality care for all, now and for future generations 
 

 

Dear Colleagues 
 
BETTER CARE FUND 2017-19 
 
Thank you for submitting your Better Care Fund (BCF) plan for regional 
assurance. We know that the BCF has again presented challenges in preparing 
plans at pace and we are grateful for your commitment in providing your agreed 
plan. The Better Care Fund is the only mandatory policy to facilitate integration of 
health and social care and the continuation of the BCF itself. It brings together 
health and social care funding, with a major injection of social care money 
announced at Spring Budget 2017. For the first time, this policy framework for the 
Fund covers two financial years to align with NHS planning timetables and to give 
areas the opportunity to plan more strategically. 
 
Your plan has been assessed in accordance with the process set out in the 
Better Care Fund 2017-19: Guide to Assurance of Plans.  
 
In determining and exercising further powers in connection with your application, 
NHS England has had regard to the extent to which there is a need for the 
provision of health services;  health-related services (within the meaning given in 
section 14Z1 of the NHS Act 2006); and social care services.  
 
I am delighted to let you know that, following the regional assurance process, 
your plan has been classified as ‘Approved’. In summary, the assurance team 
recognises your plan has been agreed by all parties (local authority, Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), and your Health and Wellbeing Board), and the 
plan submitted meets all requirements and the focus should now be on delivery. 
 
Your BCF funding can therefore now be released subject to the funding being 
used in accordance with your final approved plan, and the funding being 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

NHS England 
Skipton House 

80 London Road 
London  

SE1 6LH 
 
 

30 October 2017 
 

To: (by email)  

Cllr Phil Davies Chair, Wirral Health and Wellbeing Board 
Eric Robinson Chief Executive, Wirral Council  
Simon Banks Chief Officer, NHS Wirral CCG  
Mike Treharne 
Nesta Hawker  

Chief Finance Officer, NHS Wirral CCG 
Director of Commissioning, NHS Wirral CCG  

Page 51



OFFICIAL 

 

High quality care for all, now and for future generations 
 

transferred into pooled funds under a section 75 agreement. 
 
These conditions have been imposed through NHS England’s powers under 
sections 223G and 223GA of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Care Act 
2014). These sections allow NHS England to make payment of the BCF funding 
subject to conditions. If the conditions are not complied with, NHS England is 
able to withhold or recover funding, or direct the CCG(s) in your Health and 
Wellbeing Board area as to the use of the funding. 
 
Amounts payable to the CCG in respect of the BCF are subject to the following 
conditions under section 223GA of the NHS Act 2006: 
  

1. That the CCG will meet the performance objectives specified in its BCF 
plan; and  

2. That the CCG will meet any additional performance objectives specified by 
NHS England from time to time.  
  

If the CCG fails to meet those objectives, NHS England may withhold the funds 
(in so far as they have not already been paid to the CCG) or recover payments 
already made; and may direct the CCG as to the use of the amounts payable in 
respect of the BCF. 
 
In addition to the BCF funding, the Spring Budget 2017 increased funding via the 
Improved Better Care Fund (IBCF) for adult social care in 2017-19. This has 
been pooled into the local BCF. The new IBCF grant (and as previously the 
Disabled Facilities Grant) will be paid directly to local authorities via a Section 31 
grant from the Department for Communities and Local Government. The 
Government has attached a set of conditions to the Section 31 grant, to ensure it 
is included in the BCF at local level and will be spent on adult social care.  
 

You should now progress with your plans for implementation. Ongoing support 
and oversight with your BCF plan will be led by your local better care manager. 
 
Once again, thank you for your work and best wishes with implementation and 
delivery. 
 
Yours faithfully, 
 

 
 

Simon Weldon 
Director of NHS Operations and Delivery and SRO for the Better Care Fund  
NHS England 
 
 
 
 
 
Copy (by email) to: 

Page 52



OFFICIAL 

 

High quality care for all, now and for future generations 
 

 

 

Graham Hodkinson Director for Health and Care, Wirral Council  

Jacqui Evans Better Care Fund Lead/Head of Transformation, Wirral Council  

  

Jo Farrar 

Jonathan Marron 

Sarah Pickup 

Director General, Department for Communities & Local Government 

Director General, Department of Health 

Deputy Chief Executive, Local Government Association 

  

NHS England North 

Richard Barker Regional Director  

Graham Urwin Director of Commissioning Operations 

Andrew Crawshaw Locality Director    

Tim Barton Regional Lead 

Justine Howe Better Care Manager 

  

Better Care Support team  

Anthony Kealy Head of Integration Delivery   

Rosie Seymour Deputy Director 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	4a Wirral Safeguarding Children’s Board Annual Report.
	4b Public Health Annual Report 2017: Expect better
	5b A & E Update
	5c BCF Update
	Appendix 1


